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The group annual financial statements and the company annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2012, which 
appear on pages 3 to 44, were approved by the board of directors on 8 November 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

MA Brey FP Kuttel
Chairman Chief executive officer

ApprovAl of ANNuAl fiNANciAl STATemeNTS

The group annual financial statements and the company annual financial statements were prepared under the supervision of the group 
financial director, rG Nicol cA(SA). These annual financial statements have been audited in compliance with the companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as amended (“the companies Act”).

prepArATioN of ANNuAl fiNANciAl STATemeNTS

reporT of The compANy SecreTAry

in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the companies Act, i certify that the company has lodged with the commissioner all such returns as are 
required by the companies Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

JC Marais
Company secretary

8 November 2012
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iNdepeNdeNT AudiTor’S reporT
to the shareholders of oceana Group limited

We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of oceana Group limited set out on pages 6 to 43, which 
comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 September 2012, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements 
in accordance with international financial reporting Standards and the requirements of the companies Act of South Africa, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
in our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of oceana Group limited as at 30 September 2012, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with international financial reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act 
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2012, we have read the 
report of the directors, the report of the audit committee and the report of the company secretary for the purpose of identifying whether 
there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. 

These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. however, we have not audited 
these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Deloitte & Touche
registered auditors

per GG fortuin 
partner

8 November 2012

National executive: ll Bam (chief executive); Ae Swiegers (chief operating officer); 
Gm pinnock (Audit); dl Kennedy (risk Advisory); NB Kader (Tax); Tp pillay (consulting); 
K Black (clients & industries); JK mazzocco (Talent & Transformation); cr Beukman (finance); m Jordan (Strategy);  
S Gwala (Special projects); TJ Brown (chairman of the Board); mJ comber (deputy chairman of the Board);
regional leader: BGc fannin

A full list of partners and directors is available on request

B-BBee rating: level 2 contributor in terms of the chartered Accountancy profession Sector code

member of deloitte Touche Tohmatsu limited
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reporT of The direcTorS

The directors submit their report which forms part of the 
annual financial statements for the year ended 
30 September 2012. 

Nature of business and operations
The group consists of a number of operating subsidiaries and 
joint ventures in the fishing and commercial cold storage 
industries. The group engages in the catching, processing and 
procurement of various marine species, including pilchard, 
anchovy, redeye herring, tuna, lobster, squid, horse mackerel 
and hake. in addition, the company also carries on the business 
of investing funds surplus to its immediate requirements and 
providing funding to subsidiaries.

Share capital
during the year under review 223 000 shares (2011:  
205 000 shares) were allotted in terms of the company’s share 
option scheme, increasing the issued share capital by r223 
(2011: r205). premiums totalling r3,5 million (2011:  
r2,5 million) in respect of these allotments have been credited 
to the share premium account.

details of the authorised and issued share capital of the 
company are set out in note 19.

The company’s shares are listed on the JSe limited (JSe share 
code: oce) and the Namibian Stock exchange (NSX share  
code: ocG).

Financial results
The results for the year under review are reflected in the 
statements of comprehensive income on page 12. 

Special resolutions
during the year the company’s shareholders passed three special 
resolutions: to approve and authorise the provision of financial 
assistance by the company as contemplated in section 45 of  
the companies Act; to approve the non-executive directors’ 
remuneration in their capacity as directors only; and to grant 
general approval and authorisation to repurchase the issued 
shares by the company or its subsidiaries.

Dividends
dividends paid during the year and dividends declared after the 
reporting date are set out in note 9.

Acquisition
The effective date for the purchase of the hake and horse 
mackerel fishing rights and related assets from the lusitania 
group and associated companies, as well as its cold storage 
business, was 18 September 2012. The total purchase 
consideration was r116,3 million, of which r105,3 million was 
paid by year-end. The fishing rights, related assets and the  
cold storage business were acquired to expand the group’s  
core activities.

Property, plant and equipment
capital expenditure during the year amounted to r2,1 million  
on expansion (2011: r23,3 million) and r67,7 million on 
replacement assets (2011: r102,7 million). during the year 
there was no major change in the nature of the assets nor in  
the policy relating to their use. further details are disclosed  
in note 10.

Trademark impairment
The Glenryck trademark, in the united Kingdom, was impaired 
by r13,2 million during the financial year. further details are 
disclosed in note 11.

Competition Commission administrative penalty
A consent Agreement was concluded with the competition 
commission in relation to their investigation into the small 
pelagic fishing industry in terms of which the group has paid an 
administrative penalty amounting to r34,75 million. This matter 
was disclosed in the previous year’s annual financial statements 
as a contingent liability.

Directors and officers
The names of the present directors can be found in the 2012 
integrated report, along with the name, business and postal 
address of the company secretary.

Directors’ interests in shares
The aggregate direct and indirect beneficial interest of  
the directors in the issued share capital of the company at  
30 September was as follows:

 Number of shares

2012
direct

beneficial
indirect

beneficial Aggregate

ABA conrad 500 123 500 124 000
pG de Beyer 3 000 3 000
rG Nicol 147 000 2 000 149 000

2011

ABA conrad 500 123 500 124 000
pG de Beyer 3 000 3 000
rG Nicol 147 000 2 000 149 000

There have been no changes in the above interest since the 
year-end. No director holds 1% or more of the issued share 
capital of the company. details of directors’ individual interests 
in options held in terms of the oceana Group (1985) Share 
option and Share purchase Schemes are set out in note 30.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures
details of subsidiaries and joint ventures are given in separate 
schedules on pages 42 and 43.

The interest of the company for the year in the total profits and 
losses after taxation of its subsidiaries and joint ventures was  
as follows:

2012 2011
R’000 r’000

Total profit after taxation 
attributable to shareholders of 
oceana Group limited 433 553 317 984
Total losses after taxation 
attributable to shareholders of 
oceana Group limited 6 562 6 248

Going concern
The directors consider both the group and the company to be 
going concerns.

Events after the reporting date
No events occurred after the reporting date that may have  
an impact on the group’s and company’s reported financial 
position at 30 September 2012.
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reporT of The AudiT commiTTee

COMPOSiTiON OF ThE COMMiTTEE

The audit committee appointed by the shareholders on 
17 february 2012 to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
annual general meeting (AGm) scheduled for 14 february 2013, 
comprises three independent non-executive directors of the 
company, being mr S pather (chairman) [BBusSc Bcom (hons); 
mBA (cape Town)], ms ZBm Bassa [BAcc (udW); cA(SA)] and 
mr pG de Beyer [BBusSc (cape Town); fASSA].  
The members possess the necessary expertise to perform the 
functions of an audit committee. 

The agenda for the company’s forthcoming AGm includes 
resolutions to be proposed to shareholders for the election of 
three of its independent non-executive directors to comprise 
the audit committee from that date.

ChARTER

The audit committee has a charter, approved by the board. 
The charter is reviewed annually and was updated during the 
year under review. 

The committee’s responsibilities are detailed in the charter 
which can be viewed on the company’s website. The committee’s 
charter allows it to consult with specialists to assist it in the 
performance of its functions, subject to a board-approved 
process.

WORK PlAN AND MEETiNGS

The committee adopted a formal work plan designed to structure 
execution of responsibilities over the year. The audit committee 
acts as such for oceana’s South African subsidiaries. it met 
twice during the year under review, with full attendance by all 
members. Attendance at meetings by directors and management 
is by way of invitation.

The committee provides a forum through which the external and 
internal auditors report to the board. The external and internal 
auditors attend committee meetings and have unrestricted 
access to the committee and its chairman at all times, ensuring 
that their independence is not impaired. Both the external and 
internal auditors have the opportunity of addressing the 
committee and its chairman at each of the meetings without 
management being present.

The committee reviews detailed reports from both the external 
and internal auditors and the chairman of the committee  
reports on the findings of the external and internal auditors  
at board meetings. 

APPOiNTMENT OF ExTERNAl AND iNTERNAl AuDiTORS

in terms of section 94 of the companies Act the committee is 
required to nominate for appointment by the shareholders at the 
company’s annual general meeting an independent registered 
external auditor. The committee has nominated deloitte &Touche 
for such appointment as the company’s external auditor at the 
annual general meeting of the company scheduled for 
14 february 2013.

Additionally in terms of its charter it is responsible for the 
appointment of the company’s internal auditors. KpmG 
performed this function for the past year and were reappointed 
as internal auditors for the 2013 financial year.

The committee approves the fees and scope of external and 
internal audit services. 

it is responsible for the maintenance of a professional 
relationship with both the external and internal auditors and 
oversees co-operation between these parties.

iNDEPENDENCE OF ExTERNAl AuDiTORS

The committee has formal rules regulating the services and 
conditions of use of non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors, governing, inter alia, compliance issues, taxation, 
company structure, information systems, organisational 
structure, remuneration structure, risk management services, 
audit certificates in relation to fishing rights, due diligence 
investigations and such other services as the committee may 
approve. The company’s independent external auditors do not 
assist in the performance of any internal audit assignments. 
The nature and extent of all non-audit services provided by 
the external auditors are pre-approved and reviewed by the 
committee to ensure compliance with the company’s policy.  
The committee is satisfied that the external auditors are 
independent of the company. The committee and management 
maintained a positive, objective and professional relationship 
with the partner responsible for the supervision and direction  
of the audit. The committee considered and determined the  
fees and terms of engagement of the external auditors.

iNTERNAl AuDiT

The internal audit function is conducted by a professional firm 
of registered accountants and auditors, KpmG. They operate in 
terms of the internal audit charter and under the direction of the 
audit committee, which approves the scope of the work to be 
performed. Significant findings are reported to both executive 
management and the audit committee and corrective action is 
taken by management to address identified internal control 
deficiencies.

in addition, the internal auditors followed up on all previously 
reported findings, and where progress against previously agreed 
management action is deemed insufficient, such findings are 
escalated to the audit committee in accordance with the 
reporting framework.

COMPlAiNTS AND/OR CONCERNS

No complaints or concerns were received by the committee on 
any matters relating to the accounting practices and internal 
audit of the company, the content or auditing of the company’s 
financial statements, the internal financial controls of the 
company or on any other related matter during the year 
under review.

GOiNG CONCERN

The committee reviewed the going concern assumptions as well 
as the solvency and liquidity tests required to be performed 
before payments of dividends and provision of financial 
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assistance to related or inter-related parties as required by  
the companies Act.

ASSuRANCE

each year the committee reviews, updates and approves an 
internal audit plan. The plan is compiled using a risk-based 
approach and through extensive consultation between the 
internal auditors and oceana management, taking into 
consideration the entire risk universe affecting oceana.  
A basic combined Assurance plan (cAp) is used in developing 
the internal audit plan. The cAp is a matrix of audit areas 
indicating coverage by external assurance providers. The internal 
audit plan approved for 2012 included reviews covering, in 
various entities, contract management, supplier selection and 
evaluation, credit management processes, fixed assets, 
procurement and payables, electronic funds transfer, 
reconciliations and journals, revenue and receivables, inventory 
and production, iS governance and review of the risk 
management process.

iS GOvERNANCE

oceana’s information systems (iS) are governed by a collection 
of documented policies and procedures. The iS charter, 
approved by the board, sets the overall purpose of the function, 
its management and security. Strategic planning for iS has a 
three-year time horizon. The iS department presents an annual 
governance report to the audit committee, covering, inter alia, 
policy, strategy, disaster recovery plans, security management 
and technical architecture.

iNTERNAl CONTROlS

oceana maintains internal controls and systems designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability  
of accounting records and the financial statements and to 
adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability for  
its assets. The committee reviews the effectiveness of the 
procedures, policies and system of internal control adopted by 
group companies with reference to the findings of the external 
and internal auditors. in particular, the committee receives an 
opinion from the internal auditors on the design, implementation 
and effectiveness of the company system of internal financial 
controls. Based on the overall ratings assigned, and in 
accordance with the assessment approach followed in terms of 
oceana’s rating framework, the group’s system of internal control 
is assessed to be effective.

RiSK MANAGEMENT

The committee has oversight of fraud and information 
technology risks. The committee fulfils an oversight role 
regarding financial reporting risks, internal financial controls, 
fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting and information 
technology risks as they relate to financial reporting.

COMPliANCE AND EThiCS

ethics reports were presented to the committee at each meeting. 
These deal with principles and issues of a compliance and 
ethical nature in the group’s business. The code of Business 
conduct and ethics was updated and a new policy on Trading 
in company Securities was approved by the board.

The provisions of the King iii code, as they pertain to audit 
committees, were adhered to. The committee has considered 
the expertise and experience of the group financial director in 
terms of the listings requirements of the JSe and concluded 
that the financial director’s expertise and experience meet the 
appropriate requirements. The committee is satisfied that  
the expertise, resources and experience of the company’s 
finance function is satisfactory.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors, or to the 
attention of the external or internal auditors, to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of the group’s key internal 
controls and systems has occurred during the year under review.

REviEW OF iNTEGRATED REPORT AND ANNuAl FiNANCiAl 
STATEMENTS

The committee considers the significant estimates, accounting 
policies and practices used in the preparation of the financial 
statements to be appropriate. it reviewed the integrated 
report and annual financial statements for the year ended 
30 September 2012 and recommended them to the board 
for approval. 

STATuTORy DuTiES

The committee has complied with its statutory obligations  
and discharged its duties in accordance with its mandate and 
charter. 

The committee has performed the following specific statutory 
duties:

•	 	considered	and	nominated	the	external	auditors	for	
appointment at the annual general meeting;

•	 	determined	the	fees	to	be	paid	to	the	auditors	and	the	
auditors’ terms of engagement;

•	 	determined	the	nature	and	extent	of	non-audit	services;

•	 	pre-approved	any	proposed	agreement	with	the	auditors	for	
the provision of non-audit services;

•	 	prepared	this	report,	which	is	included	in	the	annual	
financial statements; 

•	 	received and dealt appropriately with concerns and 
complaints as required; 

•	 	made	submissions	to	the	board	on	matters	concerning	the	
company’s accounting policies, financial controls, records 
and reporting; and

•	 	performed	oversight	functions	as	determined	by	the	board.

CONCluSiON

in signing this report on behalf of the audit committee, i would 
like to thank my fellow committee members, the external and 
internal auditors and management for their contributions to the 
committee during the year.

S Pather
Audit committee chairman
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AccouNTiNG policieS

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
these group and company annual financial statements (AfS) are 
set out below and are consistent in all material respects with 
those applied during the previous year.

1.  BASiS OF PREPARATiON
The group and company AfS are prepared in accordance 
with the going concern and historical cost bases except 
where stated otherwise. The presentation and functional 
currency of the group and company financial statements is 
the South African rand and all amounts are rounded to the 
nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

2.  STATEMENT OF COMPliANCE
The group and company AfS have been prepared in 
compliance with international financial reporting 
Standards (ifrS).

3.  BASiS OF CONSOliDATiON
The group AfS comprise the AfS of the company and its 
subsidiaries (including the employee share trusts). 

The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
control is acquired and cease to be consolidated on the 
date control ceases. control is achieved where the group 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
When there is a disposal or loss of control of a subsidiary, 
the group AfS include the results for the part of the 
reporting period during which the group had control. Any 
difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the 
carrying amount of the subsidiary is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-controlling interest at acquisition date is determined 
as the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of 
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired.

The company carries its investments in subsidiaries at cost, 
less any accumulated impairment losses. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the parent company. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used in line 
with those of the group.

intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses 
are eliminated in full.

The group applies the acquisition method to account for 
business combinations. The consideration transferred in 
a business combination is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of 
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the group. 
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any 
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values  
at the acquisition date. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group 
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent 

consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability are 
recognised in profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs are 
generally expensed as incurred. 

4.  iNTERESTS iN JOiNT vENTuRES
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or 
more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control. The group recognises its interest in joint 
ventures using proportionate consolidation. The group 
combines its share of each of the assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses of the joint venture with the similar items, 
line by line, in its group AfS.

Any difference between the cost of acquisition and the 
group’s fairly valued share of the identifiable net assets is 
recognised and treated according to the group’s accounting 
policy for goodwill. The financial statements of the joint 
venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
parent company. Where necessary, adjustments are made  
to the financial statements of joint ventures to bring the 
accounting policies used in line with those of the group.

A joint venture is proportionately consolidated from the 
date joint control is acquired until the date on which the 
group ceases to have joint control.

The company carries its investments in joint ventures at 
cost, less any accumulated impairment losses.

5.  FOREiGN CuRRENCy TRANSlATiON
The financial results of an entity are accounted for in its 
functional currency.

Translation of foreign currency transactions
Initial recognition
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at exchange rates prevailing at the date 
of the transaction.

Subsequent measurement
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at exchange 
rates prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items 
carried at cost are translated using the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction, whilst assets carried at fair value 
are translated at the exchange rate when the fair value was 
determined.

exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income when they arise.

Translation of foreign operations
on consolidation, the financial statements of foreign 
operations are translated into the group’s presentation 
currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing 
rate on the reporting date. income, expenses and capital 
transactions (such as dividends) are translated at average 
exchange rates or at the prevailing rates on the transaction 
dates, if more appropriate. Goodwill and fair value 
adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity 
are translated at the closing rate on the reporting date.

exchange differences arising on translation are recognised 
in the statement of changes in equity in the foreign 
currency translation reserve (fcTr). on disposal of part or 
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all of the investment, the proportionate share of the related 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the fcTr 
is included in determining the profit or loss on disposal  
of that investment and recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

6.  REvENuE
revenue comprises the selling value of goods delivered and 
services rendered during the year, excluding value added 
tax, after deducting normal discounts and rebates. in the 
determination of revenue, transactions within the group  
are excluded.

Sale of goods
revenue is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have transferred to the buyer, 
recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated 
costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, there is no continuing management involvement 
with the goods and the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably.

Services
revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised 
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract.

interest received
interest received is recognised on a time basis using the 
effective interest rate implicit in the instrument.

Dividend income
dividend income is recognised when the group’s right to 
receive the payment is established.

7.  EMPlOyEE BENEFiTS
Short-term employee benefits
remuneration of employees is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income as the services are rendered, 
except for non-accumulating benefits which are only 
recognised when the specific event occurs. provision is 
made for accumulated leave on the cost-to-company basis.

Defined-contribution plans
The group contributions to the defined-contribution funds 
are determined in terms of the rules governing those  
funds. contributions are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which the service is 
rendered by the relevant employees.

Defined-benefit plans
The group has an obligation to provide certain post-
retirement benefits to its eligible employees and 
pensioners. The defined-benefit liability is the aggregate of 
the present value of the defined-benefit obligation and 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, reduced by 
unrecognised past-service costs and the fair value of plan 
assets. The defined-benefit obligation is calculated using 
the projected unit credit method, incorporating actuarial 
assumptions.

Actuarial gains and losses are spread over the average 
remaining service lives of employees. To the extent that 
there is uncertainty as to the entitlement to any surplus, no 
asset is recognised.

Post-retirement medical obligations
The group provides post-retirement health-care benefits to 
certain of its retirees. This practice has been discontinued 
and this benefit is no longer offered to current or new 
employees. The potential liability in respect of eligible 
retirees has been provided for in the financial statements 
using the projected unit credit method. independent 
actuaries carry out annual valuations of these obligations.

8.  ShARE-BASED PAyMENTS
Equity-settled compensation benefits
certain employees, including executive directors of the 
group, receive remuneration in the form of equity-settled 
share-based payments, whereby they render services in 
exchange for rights to the company’s listed shares.

Qualifying black employees receive empowerment benefits 
in the form of equity-settled share-based payments through 
their participation in Khula Trust.

The cost of equity-settled share-based payments is 
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined using 
the Black-Scholes model, further details of which are given 
in the note on share-based payment plans.

The cost of equity-settled share-based payments is 
recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity 
in the share-based payment reserve, over the vesting period. 
The cumulative expense recognised for share options 
granted at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the 
group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income for a period 
represents the movement in the cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest.

The effect of outstanding options is reflected in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share in the note on 
earnings per share.

Cash-settled transactions
The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially 
at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
model. This model takes into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the instruments were granted. This 
fair value is expensed over the period until vesting with 
recognition of a corresponding liability. The number of 
options that are expected to vest are revised at each 
reporting date and the liability is remeasured up to and 
including the settlement date with changes in fair value 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

9.  lEASES
leases are classified as operating leases, where 
substantially all the risks and rewards associated with 
ownership of the asset are not transferred from the lessor 
to the lessee. 
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AccouNTiNG policieS coNTiNued 

operating lease rentals are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income on the straight-line basis over the 
lease term. The resulting difference arising from the 
straight-line basis and contractual cash flows is recognised 
as an operating lease obligation or asset.

contingent rental income and expenses are recognised 
when incurred.

10.  RESEARCh AND DEvElOPMENT COSTS
expenditure on research and development is recognised  
in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in 
which it is incurred.

11.  iNTEREST PAiD
interest paid is accrued and recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income at the effective interest rate relating 
to the relevant financial liability, in the period in which it  
is incurred.

12.  TAxATiON
The income tax expense consists of current tax, deferred 
tax, STc and foreign withholding taxes.

Current taxation
The current tax charge is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the period. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation
The provision for deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from the expected 
manner of recovery of the carrying amount of the group’s 
assets and liabilities.

deferred taxation is provided for all temporary differences 
at the reporting date between the carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes and the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities.

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised in  
the foreseeable future against future taxable profit. The 
carrying value of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each 
reporting date. if it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part, 
or all, of the asset to be utilised, the carrying value of the 
deferred tax asset is reduced.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are off-set if the group 
has a legally enforceable right to set off current assets 
against current liabilities and the deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

Secondary tax on companies (STC)
STc is recognised as part of the current tax charge in the 
statement of comprehensive income when the related 
dividend has been declared.

Foreign withholding taxes
foreign withholding taxes are recognised as part of the 
current tax charge in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the related dividend receivable has been 
declared and when directors’ fees are receivable.

13.  DiviDENDS
dividends payable and the related taxation thereon are 
recognised as liabilities in the period in which the 
dividends are declared.

14.  PROPERTy, PlANT AND EquiPMENT
initial recognition
property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at 
cost, being the cash price equivalent at the recognition 
date. The cost of an asset comprises any costs incurred in 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to operate as intended by management.

Freehold land and buildings
immovable property owned by the group is classified as 
owner-occupied property and shown at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. land is shown 
at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.

leasehold land and buildings
improvements to leasehold property are capitalised and 
depreciated to expected residual value over the remaining 
period of the lease.

Plant, equipment, motor vehicles and fishing vessels  
and nets
plant, equipment, motor vehicles and fishing vessels and 
nets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation  
and impairment. When plant and equipment comprise 
major components with different useful lives, these 
components are depreciated as separate items. in the case 
of fishing vessel refits, these costs are depreciated over  
the period between each vessel refit. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance expenditures are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which 
they are incurred. expenditure incurred to replace or 
modify a significant component of plant or equipment is 
capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost 
of the item can be reliably measured. Any remaining book 
value of the component replaced is written off in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Depreciation
items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated to 
their estimated residual values on the straight-line basis 
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over their expected useful lives. The depreciation methods, 
estimated remaining useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date. A change resulting from 
the review is treated as a change in accounting estimate 
which is accounted for on a prospective basis.

depreciation commences when an asset is available for use 
and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is 
classified as held for sale and the date that the asset  
is derecognised.

depreciation ceases temporarily when the residual value 
exceeds the carrying value. The following range of 
depreciation rates apply on initial recognition:

% per annum

Buildings – freehold 5
Buildings – leasehold 5 – 10
plant and equipment 10 – 20
motor vehicles 20 – 25
office equipment 10 – 50
fishing vessels and nets 10 – 33

Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
on disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected through its continued use or disposal. Gains or 
losses which arise on derecognition are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period of 
derecognition. The gain or loss is calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item at the date of disposal.

impairment
The carrying value of the group’s property, plant and 
equipment is reviewed at each reporting date or whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of 
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. in assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using  
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. A previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimated recoverable amount of the asset. That 
recoverable amount cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of amortisation,  
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset  
in prior periods.

15.  GOODWill
Goodwill is classified as an intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life.

initial recognition and measurement
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of 
the cost of the business combination over the group’s 

attributable share of the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets at the date of acquisition. if the group’s interest in 
the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the excess is recognised 
immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is reflected at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

if the initial accounting for business combinations has 
been determined provisionally, then adjustments to these 
values resulting from the emergence of new information 
within twelve months after the acquisition date are made 
against goodwill. in addition, goodwill is adjusted for 
changes in the estimated value of contingent 
considerations given in the business combination  
when they arise.

impairment
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment on 
an annual basis, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.

impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use, of the cash-generating unit to which  
the goodwill relates. The value in use is calculated as the 
present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from an asset or cash-generating unit. The 
impairment loss is applied firstly to the carrying amount of 
goodwill, thereafter any remaining impairment is allocated 
to the other assets of the unit. impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed.

Derecognition
Goodwill associated with an operation which is disposed of 
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal.

16.  iNTANGiBlE ASSETS
intangible assets consist of trademarks and fishing rights.

initial recognition and measurement
intangible assets acquired separately are initially measured 
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in  
a business combination is the fair value at the date  
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Trademarks and fishing rights which have finite useful lives 
are amortised over their expected useful lives. Those with 
indefinite useful lives are not amortised. The useful lives of 
the intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine 
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be 
supportable. if not, the change in the useful life 
assessment from indefinite to finite is made on  
a prospective basis.
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AccouNTiNG policieS coNTiNued 

impairment
Trademarks and fishing rights are tested for impairment on 
an annual basis, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.

impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the trademarks and fishing rights, which is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  
The value in use is calculated as the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
trademarks and fishing rights.

Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Derecognition
intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from their continued 
use. The gain or loss is calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the item at the date of its disposal.

17.  FiNANCiAl iNSTRuMENTS
Financial assets
financial assets recognised in the statement of financial 
position include investments and loans, cash and cash 
equivalents and trade and other receivables.

investments in preference shares consist of preference 
shares held in oceana Spv (pty) limited which are held  
at cost plus preference dividends accrued, but not yet 
declared, less repayments received. other investments 
consist of unlisted equities. They are recorded at original 
cost, subject to an annual impairment review.

loans are stated at their nominal values, reduced by 
provisions for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash on hand, 
short-term deposits held with banks and preference shares 
administered by banks and insurers, all of which are 
available for use by the group, are measured at fair value. 
for purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are stated net of bank overdrafts. 

Accounts receivable are recorded at originated cost less 
allowance for credit notes to be issued. provisions for 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income when there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired. Amounts considered 
irrecoverable are written off against the provision, and 
recovery of amounts subsequently written off are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

financial instruments are off-set when the group has  
a legally enforceable right to off-set and intends to settle 
either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

financial assets are derecognised when substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
another entity.

impairment
financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence that they 
are impaired.

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had  
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of  
that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset 
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

individually significant financial assets are tested for 
impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar 
credit risk characteristics. All impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
debt and equity instruments are classified as either 
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. issued share capital and premium is 
recorded at the amount of the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities
financial liabilities are initially recorded at cost and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Derivative financial instruments
derivative financial instruments are initially recorded at 
cost and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent 
reporting dates. Gains or losses arising from a change in 
fair value of financial instruments that are not part of  
a hedging relationship are recognised in the statement  
of comprehensive income in the period in which the 
change arises.

When a derivative instrument is designated as a cash flow 
hedge of an asset, liability or expected future transaction, 
the effective part of any gain or loss arising in the 
derivative instrument is classified as a hedging reserve in 
the statement of changes in equity until the underlying 
transaction occurs. The ineffective part of any gain or loss 
is immediately recognised in the statement of 
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comprehensive income. if the expected future transaction 
results in the recognition of an asset or liability, the 
associated gain or loss is transferred from the hedging 
reserve to the underlying asset or liability.

18. iNvENTORiES
inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value using the specific cost to value goods 
purchased for resale whilst the first-in first-out and 
weighted average methods are used to value finished goods 
and consumable stores. 

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. 

redundant and slow-moving inventories are identified and 
written down to their estimated net realisable values.

19.  NON-CuRRENT ASSETS hElD FOR SAlE
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. The asset 
must be available for immediate sale in its present 
condition within one year from the date of classification. 
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower 
of the assets’ previous carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Gains and losses arising upon remeasurement 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

20.  TREASuRy ShARES
own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury 
shares) are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the group’s own 
equity instruments. 

21.  PROviSiONS
provisions are recognised when the group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

22.  EvENTS AFTER REPORTiNG DATE
The financial statements are adjusted to reflect the effect 
of events that occurred between the reporting date and the 
date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue, provided they give evidence of conditions that 
existed at the reporting date. events that are indicative of 
conditions that arose after the reporting date are disclosed, 
but do not result in an adjustment of the financial 
statements themselves.

23.   uSE OF ESTiMATES AND JuDGEMENTS iN ThE 
PREPARATiON OF ANNuAl FiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
in the preparation of the AfS, management is required to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect reported 
income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities. use of available 
information and the application of judgement are inherent 
in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future 

could differ from these estimates, which may be material 
to the financial statements within the next financial period. 
Judgements made by management that could have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements include:

•	 	useful	lives	and	residual	values	used	to	calculate	
depreciation of property, plant and equipment;

•	 	future	cash	flows	of	cash-generating	units	used	to	test	
for impairment of goodwill and the trademark;

•	 recoverability	of	loans	and	accounts	receivable;

•	 	assumptions	used	in	the	Black-Scholes	model	to	value	
share-based payments;

•	 	amounts	provided	in	respect	of	supplier	and	other	
claims and ex gratia retirement payments in respect 
of employees previously excluded from membership of 
retirement funds; and

•	 	revenue	from	the	sale	of	goods	which	is	recognised	
when it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity. 
due to economic uncertainties in certain geographic 
regions, this can only be determined using a measure 
of judgement. management estimate the portion of 
revenue for which it is uncertain that the economic 
benefits related to the transaction will flow to the 
entity. This revenue is not recognised until the amounts 
associated with the transaction have been collected.

further information is provided in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

ADOPTiON OF NEW AND REviSED STANDARDS, 
iNTERPRETATiONS AND CiRCulARS
Accounting Standards, interpretations and Circulars issued  
but not yet effective
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the 
following relevant new or revised standards were in issue, but 
not yet effective:

•	 IFRS	7	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosure

•	 IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements

•	 	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements

•	 	IFRS	12	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities

•	 	IAS	1	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements

•	 	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements

•	 	IAS	28	Investments	in	Associates	and	Joint	Ventures

•	 	IAS	31	Interests	in	Joint	Ventures

The group is in the process of evaluating the effects of these 
standards, and while they are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the group’s results, additional disclosures may be 
required. These standards will be effective for the year ending 
September 2014. The group has decided not to early adopt any 
of these new or revised standards.
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STATemeNTS of compreheNSive iNcome
for the year ended 30 September 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

Notes R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

revenue 1 4 647 951 3 657 196 117 797 76 233
cost of sales 2 875 765 2 299 778
Gross profit 1 772 186 1 357 418 117 797 76 233
Sales and distribution expenditure 428 870 338 927
marketing expenditure 51 323 44 389
overhead expenditure 580 968 461 413 111 003 72 742
operating profit before abnormal items 2 711 025 512 689 6 794 3 491
Abnormal items 4 (47 955) (10 230) (444)
operating profit/(loss) 663 070 512 689 (3 436) 3 047
investment income 5 36 279 25 826 319 461 286 682
interest paid 6 (3 108) (2 872) (5 560) (2 500)
profit before taxation 696 241 535 643 310 465 287 229
Taxation 7 232 315 189 426 8 152 3 705
profit after taxation 463 926 346 217 302 313 283 524

other comprehensive income
movement on foreign currency translation reserve 1 826 3 512
movement on cash flow hedging reserve (1 522) 9 853
other comprehensive income, net of taxation 304 13 365
Total comprehensive income for the year 464 230 359 582 302 313 283 524

profit after taxation attributable to:
Shareholders of oceana Group limited 443 790 333 170
Non-controlling interests 20 136 13 047

463 926 346 217

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of oceana Group limited 444 094 346 535
Non-controlling interests 20 136 13 047

464 230 359 582

earnings per share (cents) 8

– Basic 443,3 333,6
– diluted 408,4 312,7

dividends per share (cents) 9 301,0 220,0

– interim paid 45,0 37,0
– final declared after reporting date 256,0 183,0
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STATemeNTS of fiNANciAl poSiTioN 
at 30 September 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

Notes R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets 690 615 600 373 192 528 196 838

property, plant and equipment 10 435 850 415 623 6 156 4 809
Goodwill 11 10 000
Trademark 11 6 229 18 101
fishing rights 11 72 409
deferred taxation 12 23 187 13 204 11 511 5 447
investments and loans 13 142 940 153 445 130 975 131 706
oceana Group Share Trust 14 5 264 6 009
Khula Trust 15 3 261 3 572
interest in subsidiaries and joint ventures 16 35 361 45 295

Current assets 1 878 113 1 422 623 626 195 548 392

inventories 17 777 979 489 850
Accounts receivable 18 823 956 536 913 7 990 8 292
Amounts owing by subsidiaries and joint ventures 16 438 396 234 795
cash and cash equivalents 276 178 395 860 179 809 305 305

Total assets 2 568 728 2 022 996 818 723 745 230

EquiTy AND liABiliTiES
Capital and reserves 1 633 242 1 399 351 719 753 685 830

Share capital and premium 19 30 692 26 293 154 677 151 153
foreign currency translation reserve (721) (2 547)
capital redemption reserve 130 130
cash flow hedging reserve 20 400 1 922
Share-based payment reserve 57 144 49 599 6 536 6 395
distributable reserve 1 496 895 1 283 031 558 540 528 282
interest of own shareholders 1 584 540 1 358 428 719 753 685 830
Non-controlling interests 48 702 40 923

Non-current liabilities 139 270 95 363 37 623 17 898

liability for share-based payments 25 97 427 53 694 37 623 17 898
deferred taxation 12 41 843 41 669

Current liabilities 796 216 528 282 61 347 41 502

Accounts payable 21 648 675 413 944 33 116 14 377
Amounts owing to subsidiaries and joint ventures 16 27 864 27 125
provisions 22 10 767 11 918
Taxation 92 200 91 104 367
Bank overdrafts 44 574 11 316

Total equity and liabilities 2 568 728 2 022 996 818 723 745 230
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STATemeNTS of chANGeS iN eQuiTy
for the year ended 30 September 2012

Share 

capital

and

foreign 

currency 

translation

capital

redemp-

tion 

cash flow

hedging

Share-

based

payment

distri-

butable

interest

of own

share-

Non-

controlling

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve holders interests Total

Notes r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

GROuP

Balance at 1 october 2010 23 129 (6 059) 130 (7 931) 40 058 1 162 803 1 212 130 34 340 1 246 470

Total comprehensive income for the year 3 512 9 853 333 170 346 535 13 047 359 582

movement on foreign currency 

translation reserve 3 512 3 512 3 512

movement on cash flow hedging reserve 20 9 853 9 853 9 853

profit after taxation 333 170 333 170 13 047 346 217

Share options exercised 2 524 2 524 2 524

decrease in treasury shares held by  

share trusts 640 640 640

recognition of share-based payments 25 9 541 9 541 87 9 628

loss on sale of treasury shares (52) (52) (52)

Additional non-controlling interest arising 

on acquisition 552 552

Khula Trust dividend distribution (1 238) (1 238) (1 238)

dividends 9 (211 652) (211 652) (7 103) (218 755)

Balance at 30 September 2011 26 293 (2 547) 130 1 922 49 599 1 283 031 1 358 428 40 923 1 399 351

Total comprehensive income for the year 1 826 (1 522) 443 790 444 094 20 136 464 230

movement on foreign currency 

translation reserve 1 826 1 826 1 826

movement on cash flow hedging reserve 20 (1 522) (1 522) (1 522)

profit after taxation 443 790 443 790 20 136 463 926

Share options exercised 3 524 3 524 3 524

decrease in treasury shares held by  

share trusts 875 875 875

recognition of share-based payments 25 7 545 7 545 69 7 614

loss on sale of treasury shares (130) (130) (130)

Khula Trust dividend distribution (1 608) (1 608) (1 608)

dividends 9 (228 188) (228 188) (12 426) (240 614)

Balance at 30 September 2012 30 692 (721) 130 400 57 144 1 496 895 1 584 540 48 702 1 633 242

COMPANy

Balance at 1 october 2010 148 629 6 217 497 333 652 179 652 179

Total comprehensive income for the year 283 524 283 524 283 524

Share options exercised 2 524 2 524 2 524

recognition of share-based payments 25 178 178 178

dividends 9 (252 575) (252 575) (252 575)

Balance at 30 September 2011 151 153 6 395 528 282 685 830 685 830

Total comprehensive income for the year 302 313 302 313 302 313

Share options exercised 3 524 3 524 3 524

recognition of share-based payments 25 141 141 141

dividends 9 (272 055) (272 055) (272 055)

Balance at 30 September 2012 154 677 6 536 558 540 719 753 719 753
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STATemeNTS of cASh floWS
for the year ended 30 September 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

Notes R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

Cash flow from operating activities
operating profit before abnormal items  711 025 512 689 6 794 3 491
Adjustment for non-cash and other items 102 832 97 647 23 171 10 390

depreciation, amortisation and impairment  87 428 77 209 3 323 5 269
Share-based payment expense  83 197 44 647 29 071 10 755
cash-settled share-based payment  (31 850) (24 266) (9 205) (5 634)
Net (surplus)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (1 193) 57 (18)
Abnormal cash item  (34 750) 

Cash operating profit before working capital changes  813 857 610 336 29 965 13 881
Working capital changes A  (357 295) 118 875 18 465 (2 431)
Cash generated from operations  456 562 729 211 48 430 11 450
investment income received  25 312 14 320 308 494 304 341
interest paid  (3 108) (2 872) (5 560) (2 500)
Taxation paid B  (242 588) (169 132) (13 273) (5 650)
dividends paid c  (242 222) (219 993) (272 055) (252 575)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities  (6 044) 351 534 66 036 55 066
Cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities  (153 331) (115 827) (195 795) 150 998

replacement capital expenditure  (67 661) (102 667) (4 686) (3 888)
expansion capital expenditure  (2 085) (23 321)
proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  1 536 460 35
Acquisition of businesses d  (105 296) (258)
Acquisition of fishing rights  (1 296) 
repayment received on preference shares  11 949 22 829 11 949 22 829
Net movement on loans and advances  9 718 (12 870) 704  1701
Acquisition of investment  (196) (196)
movement on amounts owing by subsidiaries and joint ventures (203 601) 130 356

Cash inflow from financing activities  7 987 4 902 4 263 7 513

proceeds from issue of share capital 4 270 3 112 3 524 2 524
Short-term borrowings raised  3 717 1 790
movements on amounts owing to subsidiaries and joint ventures  739 4 989

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (151 388) 240 609 (125 496) 213 577
Net cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  384 544 145 116 305 305 91 728
effect of exchange rate changes  (1 552) (1 181)
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year e  231 604 384 544 179 809 305 305
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NoTeS To The STATemeNTS of cASh floWS
for the year ended 30 September 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

A. WORKiNG CAPiTAl ChANGES
inventories  (287 755) 87 783
Accounts receivable  (283 493) 14 003 (274) (5 663)
Accounts payable and provisions  215 475 7 236 18 739 2 474
effect of non-cash items  (1 522) 9 853 758
Total working capital changes  (357 295) 118 875 18 465 (2 431)

B. TAxATiON PAiD 
Net amount (unpaid)/overpaid at the beginning of the year  (87 872) (54 271) 576 148
charged to profit and loss (note 7)  (242 124) (201 558) (14 216) (5 222)
Adjustment in respect of business acquired (1 200)
exchange rate difference 25
Net amount unpaid/(overpaid) at the end of the year  87 408 87 872 367 (576)
cash amounts paid  (242 588) (169 132) (13 273) (5 650)

C. DiviDENDS PAiD
Khula Trust dividend distribution  (1 608) (1 238)
dividends  (228 188) (211 652) (272 055) (252 575)
dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (12 426) (7 103)
cash amounts paid  (242 222) (219 993) (272 055) (252 575)

D. ACquiSiTiON OF BuSiNESSES
property, plant and equipment  (37 400) (2 817)
Goodwill  (10 000)
fishing rights  (68 860) 
inventories  (2 187)
Accounts receivable (2 232)
Accounts payable and provisions  514 3 001
contingent purchase consideration 10 450
Taxation 1 200
deferred tax 2 225
Non-controlling interest 552
cash movement on acquisition of businesses  (105 296) (258)

E. NET CASh AND CASh EquivAlENTS
cash and cash equivalents  276 178 395 860 179 809 305 305
Bank overdrafts  (44 574) (11 316)

 231 604 384 544 179 809 305 305

Explanatory notes to D. Acquisition of businesses

on 18 September 2012, the group acquired certain hake and horse mackerel fishing rights and related assets, as well as the  
cold storage business from the lusitania group and associated companies. The fair value of the acquired fishing rights and assets is 
provisional and may be adjusted upon transfer of an additional fishing right and catch agreements, which is represented by the 
contingent purchase consideration. The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities are shown in note d above. 

Acquisition-related costs amounting to r4,8 million (2011: r0,7 million) have been recognised as an expense within overhead 
expenditure in the group’s statement of comprehensive income.

As the business combination was primarily effected through the acquisition of assets, it is not practicable to determine and disclose 
pro forma revenue and profit or loss information for the combined entity as if the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the year.
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NoTeS To The ANNuAl fiNANciAl STATemeNTS
for the year ended 30 September 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

1. REvENuE
The main categories of revenue are set out below:
Sale of goods

canned fish and fishmeal 2 582 636 1 981 722
lobster, squid and french fries 350 443 286 574
horse mackerel and hake 1 435 082 1 170 907

Rendering of services
commercial cold storage 279 790 217 993
management fees from subsidiaries and joint ventures 117 797 76 233

4 647 951 3 657 196 117 797 76 233
 
2.  OPERATiNG PROFiT BEFORE ABNORMAl iTEMS iS ARRivED AT 

AFTER TAKiNG iNTO ACCOuNT ThE FOllOWiNG iTEMS
income
directors’ fees from a joint venture 44 27
foreign exchange gain 18 395 74 8 2
 Net surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 193 18

Expenditure
Auditor’s remuneration

fees for audit – current year 4 732 4 896 839 703
fees for audit – prior year under/(over)provision 54 74 8 (14)
expenses 18 8 6
other services 2 097 2 130 585 276

6 901 7 108 1 432 971

Amortisation of fishing rights 853
 depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Buildings 6 100 5 969
plant, equipment and motor vehicles 47 710 42 781 3 323 5 269
fishing vessels and nets 32 529 28 459

86 339 77 209 3 323 5 269

Administrative, technical and secretarial fees 15 765 20 787 3 478 3 355
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 57
operating lease expenses

properties 33 335 22 587 2 426 1 488
equipment and vehicles 6 280 6 176

employment costs 547 373 447 404 48 106 28 801
retirement costs 31 711 27 253 3 709 3 198
Share-based payments – cash-settled compensation scheme 75 583 35 019 28 930 10 577
Share-based payments – Khula Trust 7 614 9 628 141 179
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Notes to the aNNual fiNaNcial statemeNts coNtiNued
for the year ended 30 september 2012

 GROuP
2012 2011

R’000 r’000

3. SEGMENTAl RESulTS
Revenue
canned fish and fishmeal  2 582 636 1 981 722
lobster, squid and french fries  350 443 286 574
horse mackerel and hake  1 435 082 1 170 907
commercial cold storage  279 790 217 993

 4 647 951 3 657 196

Operating profit before abnormal items
canned fish and fishmeal  318 941 171 761
lobster, squid and french fries  29 538 13 399
horse mackerel and hake  296 578 273 795
commercial cold storage  65 968 53 734

 711 025 512 689

Total assets
canned fish and fishmeal  1 362 685 789 994
lobster, squid and french fries  95 680 136 782
horse mackerel and hake  427 057 319 370
commercial cold storage  241 002 214 342
financing  419 117 549 304

 2 545 541 2 009 792
deferred taxation  23 187 13 204

 2 568 728 2 022 996
Total liabilities
canned fish and fishmeal  515 752 250 063
lobster, squid and french fries  44 808 60 169
horse mackerel and hake  220 055 212 653
commercial cold storage  60 456 43 493
financing  52 572 15 598

 893 643 581 976
deferred taxation  41 843 41 669

 935 486 623 645

Revenue per region1

South Africa and Namibia  3 097 288  2 453 295 
other Africa  880 734  690 811 
europe  381 716  205 066 
far east  251 807 260 282 
other  36 406  47 742 

 4 647 951  3 657 196

No geographical segment report is presented as operations are predominantly in South Africa and Namibia.

revenue excludes inter-segmental revenues in South Africa and Namibia which are eliminated on consolidation amounting to:
canned fish and fishmeal r0,3 million (2011: rnil), horse mackerel and hake r27,3 million (2011: r41,9 million) and 
commercial cold storage r30,5 million (2011: r31,7 million).

The group has revised the reporting of its operating segments to better describe its business units. As a result “inshore fishing” has 
been split into “canned fish and fishmeal” and “lobster, squid and french fries”, while “midwater and deep-sea fishing” has been 
renamed to “horse mackerel and hake”.

Note:
1 Revenue per region discloses the region in which product is sold.
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 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

4. ABNORMAl iTEMS
competition commission administrative penalty (34 750)
Trademark impairment (13 205)
impairment of investment in subsidiary (9 933) (29 165)
dividend received from subsidiary 29 165
impairment of investment in Khula Trust (297) (444)

(47 955) (10 230) (444)

5. iNvESTMENT iNCOME
dividend income

Subsidiaries 285 514 262 090
interest received

Subsidiaries 401 960
Bank and short-term deposits 22 910 10 768 21 952 10 139
preference share dividends 10 967 13 141 10 967 13 141
unlisted investments 1 095 1 101
other 1 307 816 627 352

36 279 25 826 319 461 286 682

6. iNTEREST PAiD
Subsidiaries (5 549) (2 464)
Bank (2 898) (1 959) (11) (36)
other (210) (913)

(3 108) (2 872) (5 560) (2 500)

7. TAxATiON
7.1 South African

current year 139 300 87 537 13 199 5 170
Adjustments in respect of previous years (50) 1 001 33 7
Secondary taxation on companies 2 401 21 897 928

141 651 110 435 14 160 5 177
7.2 Foreign

current year 93 152 82 642
Adjustments in respect of previous years (245) (64)
Withholding tax 7 566 8 545 56 45

242 124 201 558 14 216 5 222
7.3 South African deferred taxation

current year (9 323) (8 784) (6 064) (1 370)
Adjustments in respect of previous years (656) (1 724) (147)

7.4 Foreign deferred taxation
current year 201 (1 455)
Adjustments in respect of previous years (33) (169)
Adjustment in respect of change in tax rate 2
Taxation charge 232 315 189 426 8 152 3 705
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Notes to the aNNual fiNaNcial statemeNts coNtiNued
for the year ended 30 september 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

% % % %

7. TAxATiON continued
7.5  The reconciliation of the effective rate of taxation charge  

with the South African company income tax rate is as follows:
effective rate of taxation 33,4 35,4 2,6 1,3
Adjustment to rate due to:

dividend income 1,1 0,7 26,7 26,8
Net effect of tax losses 0,1 0,1
Adjustment in respect of previous years 0,1 0,2
foreign taxation rate differentials and withholding taxes (3,8) (3,6)
Secondary taxation on companies (0,3) (4,1) (0,3)
Abnormal items (1,9) (0,9)
expenses not allowable for taxation and other (0,7) (0,7) (0,1) (0,1)

South African company income tax rate 28,0 28,0 28,0 28,0

R’000 r’000

7.6  The group’s share of tax losses in subsidiaries and joint venture 
companies available as a deduction from their future taxable  
incomes amounted to:
South African 9 257 7 877
foreign 39 013 39 387
Total 48 270 47 264
Tax savings effect:

Before deferred taxation 15 537 15 420
After deferred taxation 1 395 2 335

 
Number 

of shares
Number 

of shares

8. EARNiNGS PER ShARE
8.1 Calculation of weighted average number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 119 331 836 119 157 508
less:
Treasury shares held by Khula Trust (14 121 277) (14 178 539)
Treasury shares held by oceana Brands limited (5 094 350) (5 094 350)
Treasury shares held by oceana Group Share Trust (16 500) (16 500)
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the  
calculation of basic earnings per share 100 099 709 99 868 119

 Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration  
in respect of unexercised share options 8 559 497 6 676 262

Khula Trust1 8 502 659 6 533 907
equity-settled compensation scheme2 56 838 142 355

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the  
calculation of diluted earnings per share 108 659 206 106 544 381

Notes:
1  Represents the number of options available, 14 099 383 (2011: 14 156 799), times the average share price for the year of 4 850 cents  

(2011: 3 575 cents) less the number of options available times the option value of 1 925 cents, divided by the average share price for the year.
2  Refer to note 25.1 for additional information.
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GROuP
Gross of tax Net of tax Gross of tax Net of tax

2012 2012 2011 2011
R’000 R’000 r’000 r’000

8. EARNiNGS PER ShARE continued
8.2 Determination of headline earnings

 profit after taxation attributable to shareholders  
of oceana Group limited 443 790 333 170
Adjusted for:
Trademark impairment 13 205 13 205
 Net (surplus)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1 193) (837) 57 40
headline earnings for the year 456 158 333 210
headline earnings per share (cents)
– Basic 455,7 333,7
– diluted 419,8 312,7

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

9. DiviDENDS
 final of 183 cents per share declared on 10 November 2011,  
paid 16 January 2012 (2011: 175 cents) 183 119 174 677 218 341 208 469
 interim of 45 cents per share declared on 11 may 2012,  
paid 2 July 2012 (2011: 37 cents) 45 069 36 975 53 714 44 106

dividends paid during the year 228 188 211 652 272 055 252 575
 final of 256 cents (2011: 183 cents) per share declared on  
8 November 2012, payable on 14 January 2013 based  
on number of shares in issue on 8 November 2012

dividend declared after reporting date 256 560 182 906 305 739 218 166

The income tax consequence of the dividend declared after the reporting date for the group and company amounted to rnil  
(2011: r2,7 million).

 GROuP

freehold land
and buildings

leasehold
land and
buildings

plant,
equipment

and vehicles

fishing
vessels and

nets Total
r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

10. PROPERTy, PlANT AND EquiPMENT
Cost
At 1 october 2010  43 731  98 857  517 442  349 627  1 009 657 
Additions  18 964  15  70 524  36 485  125 988 
Business acquisition  22 824  22 824 
disposals  (525)    (17 012)  (13 397)  (30 934)
exchange differences  26  26 
At 30 September 2011  62 170  98 872  570 980  395 539  1 127 561 

At 1 october 2011  62 170  98 872  570 980  395 539  1 127 561 
Additions  4 480  1 502  41 986  21 778  69 746 
Business acquisition     3 075  9 325  25 000  37 400 
disposals  (15)  (408)  (9 165)  (9 176)  (18 764)
exchange differences  (6)  (6)
At 30 September 2012  66 635  103 041  613 120  433 141  1 215 937 
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Notes to the aNNual fiNaNcial statemeNts coNtiNued
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 GROuP

freehold land
and buildings

leasehold
land and
buildings

plant,
equipment

and vehicles

fishing
vessels and

nets Total
r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

10. PROPERTy, PlANT AND EquiPMENT continued
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 october 2010  13 990  70 438  355 919  204 772  645 119 
depreciation for the year  1 443  4 343  42 964  28 459  77 209 
Business acquisition  20 007  20 007 
disposals  (563)      (16 569)  (13 285)  (30 417)
exchange differences  20  20 
At 30 September 2011  14 870  74 781  382 334  239 953  711 938 

At 1 october 2011  14 870  74 781  382 334  239 953  711 938 
depreciation for the year  1 937  4 163  47 710  32 529  86 339 
impairment charge  237  237 
disposals  (15)  (408)  (9 048)  (8 950)  (18 421)
exchange differences  (6)  (6)
At 30 September 2012  16 792  78 536  421 227  263 532  780 087 

Carrying value
At 1 october 2010  29 741  28 419  161 523  144 855  364 538 
At 30 September 2011  47 300  24 091  188 646  155 586  415 623 
At 30 September 2012  49 843  24 505  191 893  169 609  435 850 

The insured value of the group’s property, plant and equipment at 30 September 2012 amounted to r3,3 billion (2011: r2,9 billion).

details of land and buildings mentioned above are included in registers which are available on request for inspection at the 
registered office of the company. The group holds no investment properties.

COMPANy
r’000

Plant, equipment and motor vehicles
Cost
At 1 october 2010 16 908
Additions 3 888
disposals  (32)
At 30 September 2011 20 764

At 1 october 2011 20 764
Additions 4 686
intercompany transfer  (51)
disposals  (1 052)
At 30 September 2012 24 347

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 october 2010 10 718
depreciation for the year 5 269
disposals  (32)
At 30 September 2011 15 955

At 1 october 2011 15 955
depreciation for the year 3 323
intercompany transfer  (51)
disposals  (1 036)
At 30 September 2012 18 191

Carrying value
At 1 october 2010 6 190
At 30 September 2011 4 809
At 30 September 2012 6 156
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GROuP

Goodwill Trademark
fishing 

rights Total
r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

11. GOODWill, TRADEMARK AND FiShiNG RiGhTS
Cost
At 1 october 2010  17 630  16 183 33 813
exchange difference      1 918  1 918 
At 30 September 2011 17 630 18 101 35 731

At 1 october 2011  17 630  18 101  35 731 
Additions  4 402  4 402 
Business acquisition  10 000  68 860  78 860 
exchange difference    1 333  1 333 
At 30 September 2012 27 630 19 434 73 262 120 326

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 october 2010 and 30 September 2011 17 630 17 630

At 1 october 2011  17 630  17 630 
Amortisation for the year  853  853 
impairment charge  13 205  13 205 
At 30 September 2012 17 630 13 205 853 31 688

Carrying value
At 1 october 2010  16 183  16 183 
At 30 September 2011  18 101  18 101 
At 30 September 2012  10 000  6 229  72 409  88 638 

Goodwill
Goodwill arose during the financial year on the acquisition of the v&A cold Store from the lusitania group. in the 2010 financial 
year, goodwill relating to the acquisition of Glenryck foods limited, in the united Kingdom (uK), was impaired in full as a result of 
the reorganisation of the group’s canned fish operations in the uK pursuant to reduced trading returns in that region.

 Trademark
The trademark relates to the Glenryck brand of canned fish in the uK market. The recoverable amount of the trademark was 
determined by assessing the present value of the future cash flows of royalty income to be derived from the Glenryck brand. during 
the year, as a result of difficult trading conditions and the poor economic circumstances prevailing in the uK, an impairment was 
recognised. The key assumptions used in the calculation were the sales volume and price growth rates, which were based on 
forecasts of performance in terms of the revised business model, and a royalty fee. A discount rate of 20% (2011: 12%) was used 
which reflected the operating characteristics of the business and the environment in which it operates. 

Fishing rights
during the financial year, hake and horse mackerel fishing rights were purchased from the lusitania group and associated 
companies. Additionally, horse mackerel rights were acquired during the year from two other rights holders. fishing rights are 
amortised over the remaining period of the respective rights. horse mackerel rights are due for renewal in december 2015 and  
hake in december 2020.
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 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

12. DEFERRED TAxATiON
deferred tax assets 23 187 13 204 11 511 5 447
deferred tax liabilities (41 843) (41 669)
Net deferred tax (liability)/asset (18 656) (28 465) 11 511 5 447

Net (liability)/asset at the beginning of the year (28 465) (38 372) 5 447 3 635
Transferred from subsidiary 295
Tax rate adjustment (2)
on acquisition of business (2 225)
credited to income 9 811 12 132 6 064 1 517
Net (liability)/asset at the end of the year (18 656) (28 465) 11 511 5 447

comprising:
property, plant and equipment (44 900) (58 885)
Taxation loss relief 14 142 13 085
provisions and other credit balances 26 426 33 290 11 511 5 447
Section 14(1)(c) allowances, prepayments and other (14 324) (15 955)

(18 656) (28 465) 11 511 5 447

 Aggregate amount of unused tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset is recognised in the statement of financial position 5 410 7 388

13. iNvESTMENTS AND lOANS
Gross loans 19 782 22 200 328 273
less: provisions for irrecoverable loans (7 511) (211)
loans 12 271 21 989 328 273
preference shares 130 044 131 026 130 044 131 026
other shares 625 430 603 407

142 940 153 445 130 975 131 706

Group loans are secured by cession of shares and fishing rights and bonds over assets as appropriate. repayment terms vary 
depending on the nature of the loan. interest rates charged are floating and approximate prevailing market rates. interest amounting 
to r73 187 (2011: r463 886) was recognised in respect of impaired loans.

 company loans consist of an unsecured, interest-free loan with no fixed terms of repayment to a company in which the group holds 
a 5,3% (2011: 4,4%) equity share. No impairment provision is required in respect of this loan.
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 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

13. iNvESTMENTS AND lOANS continued
Movement on loans 
Balance at the beginning of the year 21 989 9 118 273 273
Advances 4 246 18 278 55
interest charged 995 702
loans repaid (7 659) (9 265)
movement on provisions for irrecoverable loans (7 300) 3 156
Balance at the end of the year 12 271 21 989 328 273

Movement on provisions for irrecoverable loans
Balance at the beginning of the year 211 3 367
impairment losses recognised/(reversed) 7 300 (3 156)
Balance at the end of the year 7 511 211

 The preference shares are cumulative redeemable “B” preference shares in oceana Spv (pty) limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Brimstone investment corporation limited, with a coupon rate of 95% of the prime overdraft rate and a 20-year term which expires 
on 26 September 2026. carrying value includes preference dividends accrued less repayment received. redemption of the 
preference shares and payment of the preference dividends rank behind the “A” preference shares held by The Standard Bank of 
South Africa limited in oceana Spv (pty) limited.

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

Movement on preference shares
Balance at the beginning of the year 131 026 142 349 131 026 142 349
Accrued preference dividend 10 967 11 506 10 967 11 506
repayment received (11 949) (22 829) (11 949) (22 829)
Balance at the end of the year 130 044 131 026 130 044 131 026

14. OCEANA GROuP ShARE TRuST
 The oceana Group Share Trust was formed to finance the purchase of shares in the company by 
employees of the group. The loans are secured by pledge of the shares purchased in terms of  
the scheme and are repayable within 10 years.
interest-bearing at 6,5% per annum (2011: 7,0%) 5 264 5 939
interest-free 70

5 264 6 009
 
15. KhulA TRuST

capital contribution 3 261 3 572

Khula Trust was formed in 2006 to hold shares in the company for allocation to qualifying black employees. The trust is funded by 
capital contributions from the company and participating South African subsidiary companies.

 The capital contribution plus a return of 7,46% will be repaid by Khula Trust from dividends received from the company and from 
the proceeds of shares realised on behalf of qualifying employees after the 10-year lock-in period or on behalf of the beneficiaries 
of deceased qualifying employees.
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 COMPANy
2012 2011

R’000 r’000

16. iNTEREST iN SuBSiDiARiES AND JOiNT vENTuRES
Shares at cost, less amounts written off 35 361 45 295
Amounts owing by 438 396 234 795

473 757 280 090
Amounts owing to (27 864) (27 125)

445 893 252 965

 loans to and from subsidiaries and joint ventures are unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. loans to and from  
wholly owned South African subsidiaries are interest-free. interest rates on other loans are floating and approximate prevailing 
market rates.

 details of subsidiary and joint venture companies are set out in separate schedules on pages 42 and 43 of this report.
 

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

17. iNvENTORiES
raw materials 43 250 20 842
finished goods 689 267 422 956
consumable stores and work in progress 45 462 46 052

777 979 489 850

finished goods include inventory held at net realisable value of  
r1 910 000 (2011: r51 500 061).

18. ACCOuNTS RECEivABlE
Trade receivables 584 103 420 804

Gross trade receivables 593 476 431 392
less: Allowance for credit notes (6 949) (8 006)
less: provisions for irrecoverable trade receivables (2 424) (2 582)

Short-term loans and advances 4 149 5 066

Gross short-term loans and advances 9 676 11 503
less: provisions for irrecoverable loans and advances (5 527) (6 437)

Amount owing by foreign suppliers 130 195 5 012
vAT and company taxation 45 143 21 543 951
prepayments 33 014 30 820 1 430 1 015
Accrued income and other 27 352 53 668 6 560 6 326

823 956 536 913 7 990 8 292
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 GROuP
Trade Trade

receivables receivables
2012 2011

R’000 r’000

18. ACCOuNTS RECEivABlE continued
 The analysis of group trade receivables is as follows:
Not past due 554 875 377 356

 Ageing of trade and other receivables which are past due and not impaired
30 days 25 622 34 943
60 days 2 237 3 697
90 days 1 152 3 223
120 days 107 53
150 days and over 110 1 532

584 103 420 804

 The granting of credit is controlled by application and credit-vetting procedures which are reviewed and updated on an ongoing 
basis. credit risk is reduced by other measures depending on the nature of the customer and market. credit exposure relating to  
the domestic fast-moving consumer goods (fmcG) and retail market, other than blue-chip customers, is largely covered by credit 
guarantee insurance. exports are normally on letter of credit and in some cases are on a prepaid basis. exports to African countries 
in which satisfactory credit guarantee insurance or letter of credit facilities are not available are on open account, subject to strict 
credit limits. cold storage trade receivables are covered by a lien over customer’s product held in storage. individual customer 
default risks as well as country risks are closely monitored and provisions adjusted accordingly.

Amounts owing by foreign suppliers arise from the sale of raw materials, sourced by the group, to foreign suppliers for processing 
into fishing goods. individual customer/supplier default risks as well as country risks are closely monitored.

 in determining the recoverability of trade receivables and amounts owing by foreign suppliers, management considers any change  
in the credit quality of the account from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date, taking into account credit 
guarantee cover, lien over customer’s product or other collateral held. 

 GROuP
2012 2011

R’000 r’000

Movement in provisions for irrecoverable trade receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 582 1 984
irrecoverable amounts written off against the provision (274) (40)
impairment losses recognised 116 638
Balance at the end of the year 2 424 2 582

Concentration of credit risk in trade receivables
By geographical region
South Africa and Namibia 451 140 325 238
other Africa 87 362 26 964
europe 26 376 31 181
far east and other 19 225 37 421
Trade receivables 584 103 420 804
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 GROuP
2012 2011

R’000 r’000

18. ACCOuNTS RECEivABlE continued
By customer sector
domestic fmcG, wholesale, retail (blue-chip or insured) 455 157 295 038
exports on letter of credit/cash with documents 66 266 61 351
cold storage (secured by lien) 43 398 37 321
open account 19 282 27 094
Trade receivables 584 103 420 804

Movement in provisions for irrecoverable loans and advances
Balance at the beginning of the year 6 437 5 737
impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (910) 700
Balance at the end of the year 5 527 6 437

There was one customer (2011: one customer) with a balance in excess of 10% of the total trade receivables.

 Short-term loans and advances are provided to joint venture partners and quota holders to assist in acquiring fishing vessels or to 
provide working capital. interest is charged at rates which vary between prime interest rate charged by banks and prime plus 2%.

provisions are raised for all trade receivables and short-term loans and advances which are considered irrecoverable. 

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

19. ShARE CAPiTAl AND PREMiuM
19.1 Ordinary shares of 0,1 cent each

Authorised share capital:
200 000 000 (2011: 200 000 000) shares 200 200 200 200
issued share capital:
119 429 157 (2011: 119 206 157) shares 119 119 119 119
Share premium 154 558 151 034 154 558 151 034

154 677 151 153 154 677 151 153
less: Treasury shares
19 210 233 (2011: 19 267 649) shares (123 985) (124 860)

30 692 26 293 154 677 151 153

Number of shares  

Treasury shares comprise shares held by:
Khula Trust 14 099 383 14 156 799
oceana Brands limited 5 094 350 5 094 350
oceana Group Share Trust 16 500 16 500

19 210 233 19 267 649
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 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

Number of shares

19. ShARE CAPiTAl AND PREMiuM continued
19.2 Unissued shares

Authorised 200 000 000 200 000 000
issued 119 429 157 119 206 157
unissued 80 570 843 80 793 843

under option in terms of the company’s share scheme 97 000 320 000
Balance of unissued shares 80 473 843 80 473 843

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

20. CASh FlOW hEDGiNG RESERvE
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 922  (7 931) 
movement on the cash flow hedge reserve (1 522)  9 853 
(loss)/gain recognised on cash flow hedges (2 584)  5 274 
Transferred to profit or loss (54)  2 340 
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged item 1 116  2 239 

Balance at the end of the year 400  1 922 

(losses)/gains arising on changes in fair value of forward exchange contracts, which have been designated as cash flow hedges, are 
transferred from equity into profit or loss. These (losses)/gains are included in cost of sales in the statement of comprehensive income.

21. ACCOuNTS PAyABlE
Trade payables 309 767 190 524 3 587 684
payroll-related accruals 83 639 33 485 17 398 3 219
leave pay accrual 17 889 16 152 1 803 1 557
contingent purchase consideration 10 450
Short-term loans and advances 7 998 4 281
vAT payable 6 651 4 816 1 845
Accruals and other payables 212 281 164 686 8 483 8 917

648 675 413 944 33 116 14 377

 No interest is charged on trade payables. The group has financial risk management processes to ensure that all payables are paid 
within the credit time frame. The carrying value of current accounts payable approximates their fair value.

22. PROviSiONS
Supplier claims
Balance at the beginning of the year 5 541 2 994
Net charge to operating profit 4 415 2 694
utilised during the year  (7 364) (147)
Balance at the end of the year 2 592 5 541

Ex gratia retirement provision
Balance at the beginning of the year 3 994 3 970
Net charge to operating profit 262 306
utilised during the year  (168) (282)
Balance at the end of the year 4 088 3 994



30 Oceana Group Limited Annual Financial Statements 2012 

Notes to the aNNual fiNaNcial statemeNts coNtiNued
for the year ended 30 september 2012

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

22. PROviSiONS continued
Other
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 383 2 642
Net charge to operating profit 4 097 1 855
Arising on acquisition of business 154
utilised during the year  (2 393) (2 316)
exchange adjustment 48
Balance at the end of the year 4 087 2 383

Total
Balance at the beginning of the year 11 918 9 606
Net charge to operating profit 8 774 4 855
Arising on acquisition of business 154
utilised during the year  (9 925) (2 745)
exchange adjustment 48
Balance at the end of the year 10 767 11 918

23. COMMiTMENTS
23.1 Capital commitments

Budgeted capital expenditure is as follows:
contracted 21 879 23 981 2 412
Not contracted 159 280 117 564 6 654 6 414

181 159 141 545 6 654 8 826
 capital expenditure will be financed from the group’s cash resources.

23.2 Operating lease commitments
 The future minimum lease payments under operating leases are  
as follows:
Not later than one year 29 652 24 600 1 729 1 694
later than one year but not later than five years 140 511 112 461 8 467 7 821
later than five years 418 259 205 094 7 566 9 941

588 422 342 155 17 762 19 456

 Number  Number

24. NuMBER OF EMPlOyEES
permanent employees at year-end 1 849 1 711 55 52

 
25. ShARE-BASED PAyMENT PlANS
25.1 Equity-settled compensation scheme

 The group operates the oceana Group (1985) Share option Scheme (the scheme), which is an equity-settled compensation 
scheme. The provisions of the scheme provide that the aggregate number of unissued shares that may be reserved for the scheme 
may not exceed 20% of the company’s current issued share capital. Share options were granted to executive directors and senior 
managers by the board on the recommendation of the remuneration and nominations committee. The last grant of options in terms 
of the scheme was on 25 November 2004 and it is not intended to grant any further options. The exercise price of the options is 
equal to the 30-day average closing market price of the shares prior to the date of grant. provided the employee remains in service, 
the options vest in three tranches, one-third after a period of three years from the date of grant, a further third after four years and 
the final third after five years. The contractual life of each option granted is ten years, after which the option lapses. There are no 
cash alternatives. options that have not been exercised in accordance with the rules of the scheme are forfeited upon termination  
of employment, other than on death or retirement. 
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25. ShARE-BASED PAyMENT PlANS continued
25.1 Equity-settled compensation scheme continued

 
 The following table illustrates the number and volume weighted average prices (vWAp) and movements in share options during  
the year.

GROuP
 2012  2011

Number 
of share 
options

vWAP
rand

Number
of share 
options

vWAp
rand

outstanding at the beginning of the year 320 0001 15,89 525 0001 14,49
exercised during the year 223 0002 15,80 205 0003 12,31
outstanding at the end of the year 97 0001 16,08 320 0001 15,89
exercisable at the end of the year 97 000 320 000

Notes:
1  There are no options (2011: 11 000) over shares in the end of the year balance that have not been recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as the options were 

granted on or before 7 November 2002. 
2  The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised was R45,48.
3  The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised was R35,99.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 September 2012 is 1,8 years  
(2011: 2,1 years).

The range of exercise prices for the options outstanding at the end of the year is as follows:

GROuP
2012 2011

Number of
share options

Number of
share options

r11,05 per share exercisable until 23 october 2011 11 000
r15,60 per share exercisable until 13 November 2012 52 000
r16,24 per share exercisable until 11 November 2013 32 000 162 000
r16,00 per share exercisable until 24 November 2014 65 000 95 000

97 000 320 000

The fair value of equity-settled share options is estimated as at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

25.2 Black economic empowerment scheme – Khula Trust
 Khula Trust acquired 14 380 465 oceana shares at a cost of r15,21 per share in 2006 as part of the group’s Bee transaction. 
options to acquire these shares are allocated to qualifying black employees by the trustees of Khula Trust. provided the employee 
remains in service, the options vest in three tranches, one-third after a period of three years from the date of allocation, a further 
third after four years and the final third after five years. After vesting the employee acquires a right to take up the share, but will 
only take transfer of the share after a lock-in period of ten years from the date of the initial allocation. earlier vesting and transfer  
of benefits is allowed in the event of the death of the employee. options not exercised will be available for future allocation to  
other qualifying employees.

The first allocation of 8 500 000 options was made on 15 January 2007, a second allocation of 7 715 250 options was made on 
1 may 2010, both at an option price of r15,21 per share. The second allocation was made to new eligible employees, who had 
joined since 15 January 2007, and as a top-up to employees who received options in the first allocation.
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25. ShARE-BASED PAyMENT PlANS continued
25.2 Black economic empowerment scheme – Khula Trust continued

The number of allocated options has reduced in terms of the scheme rules due to retrenchments, resignations and dismissals.

during the year 57 416 options (2011: 42 000) were realised on behalf of beneficiaries of deceased employees.

The fair value of equity-settled share options is estimated as at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

 The share-based payment expense relating to Khula Trust options is disclosed in note 2.

25.3 Cash-settled (phantom) compensation scheme
 phantom share options are granted to executive directors and senior managers by the board on the recommendation of the 
remuneration and nominations committee in terms of the phantom share scheme which was implemented in 2006. The exercise 
price and vesting rights of the phantom share options are the same as for the share scheme described in note 25.1, but the 
contractual life of the options is six years and gains on options are settled in cash. phantom share options granted in 2008 and 
thereafter have an additional performance-related hurdle rate, linked to growth in headline earnings per share, which applies to  
half of the options granted.

The fair value of the cash-settled options is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The services received and the liability to pay for those 
services are recognised over the expected vesting period. until the liability is settled it is remeasured at each reporting date with 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The following table illustrates the number and volume weighted average prices (vWAp) and movements in share options during  
the year.

GROuP
 2012  2011

Number of vWAP Number of vWAp
share options rand share options rand

outstanding at the beginning of the year 6 774 387 26,08 6 911 716 22,29
Granted during the year 1 063 000 44,77 1 301 000 37,52
forfeited during the year 347 665 27,16 211 332 24,76
exercised during the year 1 249 9581 19,28 1 226 9972 17,11
outstanding at the end of the year 6 239 764 30,56 6 774 387 26,08
exercisable at the end of the year 649 777 273 572

Notes:
1  The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised was R44,74.

 2 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised was R37,11.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 September 2012 is 3,4 years  
(2011: 3,6 years).
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25. ShARE-BASED PAyMENT PlANS continued
25.3 Cash-settled (phantom) compensation scheme continued

The range of exercise prices for the options outstanding at the end of the year is as follows:

2012 2011
Grant number  Number of share options

r15,39 per share exercisable until 9 february 2012 1A 121 732
r16,91 per share exercisable until 10 November 2012 2 418 658
r19,26 per share exercisable until 7 february 2014 3 615 699 948 997
r22,65 per share exercisable until 2 february 2015 4A 1 576 066 2 146 000
r25,06 per share exercisable until 30 June 2015 4B 500 000 500 000
r29,59 per share exercisable until 11 february 2016 5 1 277 000 1 353 000
r37,52 per share exercisable until 10 february 2017 6 1 220 000 1 286 000
r44,77 per share exercisable until 17 february 2018 7 1 051 000

6 239 765 6 774 387

The significant inputs into the model used to value the liability for share-based payments were a 30-day volume weighted average 
share price of r53,02 (2011: r37,51), an expected option life of six years and expected dividend yield of 5,8% (2011: 5,6%). 
The risk-free rate ranged from 5,1% to 6,0% (2011: 5,6% to 7,3%) during the year. expected volatility of 31,5% (2011: 28,7%) 
was based on historical share price volatility.

 The share-based payment expense relating to cash-settled options is disclosed in note 2.

26. RETiREMENT BENEFiTS
The group provides a total of six retirement plans that cover all employees. The plans consist of four defined-contribution provident 
funds and one defined-contribution retirement fund. There is also a defined-benefit pension fund with one member. The assets of 
the funds are held in independent funds, administered by their trustees in terms of the pension funds Act, 24 of 1956, as 
amended. in terms of the pension funds Act, certain of the retirement funds are exempt from actuarial valuation.

The oceana Group pension fund which is not exempt from valuation must, in terms of the pension funds Act, be valued at least 
every three years. At the date of the last valuation on 30 September 2011, the fund was confirmed to be in a financially sound 
condition. 

in order to comply with the disclosure requirements of iAS 19, a valuation has been performed by independent actuaries, using the 
projected unit credit method. A roll-forward projection from the prior actuarial valuation was used, taking account of actual 
subsequent experience.

GROuP
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

R’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Balance at the end of the year
 present value of defined-benefit obligations and 
surplus apportionment to former members (1 497) (10 790) (10 176) (9 495) (1 941)
 fair value of plan assets in respect of defined-benefit 
obligations and surplus apportionment to former 
members 8 682 16 185 17 573 13 702 15 983
funded status of defined-benefit plan 7 185 5 395 7 397 4 207 14 042
unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses) 638 2 127 (722) (3 056) 924
Asset not recognised at the reporting date (7 823) (7 522) (6 675) (1 151) (14 966)
liability at the reporting date

in respect of those retirement arrangements which disclosed a positive fund status, no assets have been recognised by the group. 
The funded status is shown above for disclosure purposes only and does not necessarily indicate any assets available to the group.
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26. RETiREMENT BENEFiTS continued
GROuP

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
R’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

 Movement in the liability recognised in the statement 
of financial position
opening balance
 Asset not recognised at the beginning of the year 7 522 6 675 1 151 14 966 12 981
contributions paid 30 087 24 675 22 670 20 400 18 411
other expenses included in staff costs (37 609) (31 350) (23 821) (35 366) (31 392)

current service cost (30 115) (24 669) (22 667) (20 389) (17 410)
interest (cost)/income (534) (910) (756) 160 (144)
expected return on plan assets 1 108 1 751 1 455 1 227 1 626
Surplus allocation – former members and related 
reserves 4 409 (15 213)
 Net actuarial (losses)/gains unrecognised  
during the year (245) 413 (498)
Asset not recognised at the reporting date (7 823) (7 522) (6 675) (1 151) (14 966)

Balance at the end of the year

 The principal actuarial assumptions used for 
accounting purposes relating to the defined-benefit 
obligations were:
discount rate net of tax 8,65% 8,50% 9,00% 8,50% 9,00%
inflation rate 6,25% 6,00% 6,00% 6,00% 6,50%
expected return on plan assets 9,65% 9,50% 10,00% 9,50% 10,00%
future salary increases 7,25% 6,75% 6,75% 6,75% 7,25%
future pension increases 6,25% 6,00% 6,00% 6,00% 6,50%

Post-employment medical obligations
The group operates a post-employment medical benefit scheme that covers certain of its retirees. This benefit is no longer offered 
by the group to current employees or new employees. The liabilities are valued annually using the projected unit credit method and 
have been funded by contributions to an independently administered insurance plan. The latest full actuarial valuation was 
performed at 30 September 2012.

2012 2011
R’000 r’000

present value of obligations 8 145 7 684
less: fair value of plan assets (8 145) (6 880)
liability at the reporting date 804

 The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes 
relating to post-employment medical obligations:

discount rate 7,25% 8,25%
medical inflation 7,10% 7,50%
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27. CONTiNGENT liABiliTiES
The company has given guarantees in support of bank overdraft facilities of certain subsidiaries and subordinated its loan to  
Blue Atlantic Trading (pty) limited.

28. FiNANCiAl RiSK MANAGEMENT
 The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: capital risk, market risk (including currency, interest rate and price 
risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. 

Capital risk
 capital is managed to ensure that operations continue as a going concern and that expansion opportunities can be funded when 
they arise. The group and company’s capital management strategy has remained consistent with the prior year. capital comprises 
equity, as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity, and overdrafts supplemented when required by short-term borrowing 
facilities. 

Currency risk
 The group is exposed to currency risk in its foreign trading operations, foreign subsidiary companies and foreign currency bank 
accounts held in South Africa and Namibia. 

Foreign currency balances and exposure
 GROuP

Australian
uS dollar euro Sterling dollar

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

2012
Trade receivables 11 790 968 1 155 189
other accounts receivable 16 613
cash and cash equivalents 5 324 4
Accounts payable (16 392) (217) (95)

17 335 751 1 064 189
year-end exchange rate 8,28 10,64 13,36 8,60

2011
Trade receivables 7 723 2 299 872 298
other accounts receivable 1 112
cash and cash equivalents 1 671 5
Accounts payable (5 139) (263)
Bank overdrafts (997)

5 367 1 039 877 298
year-end exchange rate 7,93 10,75 12,36 7,73

 currency risks arising from foreign trading operations are partially hedged by means of forward exchange contracts (fecs) and  
the set-off effect of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. The group does not enter into derivative contracts for 
speculative purposes. currency risk management is carried out through close co-operation between the group’s operating units  
and the group treasury department in terms of approved policies.

The group holds fecs which have been marked to market in the statement of financial position. for fecs designated as cash flow 
hedges, the gains and losses transferred from equity into profit or loss are included in cost of sales. Those which relate to foreign 
currency commitments not yet due and assets not yet receivable (therefore not yet recognised in the statement of financial position) 
are shown in the following table. The contracts will be utilised for purposes of trade in the 2013 financial year.
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28. FiNANCiAl RiSK MANAGEMENT continued
Foreign currency balances and exposure continued

 GROuP
uS dollar euro Sterling yen

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

2012
foreign currency bought 14 484 106 12
foreign currency sold 1 594 65 1 339
Average exchange rate 8,26 10,61 13,24

2011
foreign currency bought 13 259 134
foreign currency sold 1 123 426 2 621 36 830
Average exchange rate 7,55 9,91 12,29 0,10

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
 The following table shows the group’s sensitivity to a 10% weakening in the rand against the relevant foreign currencies.  
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
financial year-end for a 10% weaker rand, with all other variables held constant. for a 10% stronger rand there would be an  
equal and opposite impact on profit before taxation. The table excludes foreign subsidiaries.

 GROuP
2012 2011

R’000 r’000

increase in profit before taxation
uS dollar 14 348 4 256
euro 799 1 117
Sterling 1 421 1 084
Australian dollar 163 230

The following table shows the group’s sensitivity to a 10% weaker rand on the translation of foreign 
subsidiaries, with all other variables held constant. for a 10% stronger rand there would be an equal 
and opposite impact on the fcTr.

increase in fcTr
uS dollar 1 031 1 029
Sterling 832 664

The company does not have any foreign currency commitments or any foreign currency denominated assets or liabilities.

interest rate risk and liquidity risk
 financial assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include cash and short-term deposits, preference shares, loans 
receivable and bank overdrafts. interest rates applicable to these assets and liabilities are floating except when short-term deposits 
of up to three months are made at fixed rates. interest rates approximate prevailing market rates in respect of the financial 
instrument and country concerned. The group does not use derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate movements.

 The group and company manage their liquidity risk by monitoring and forecasting cash flows and by maintaining  
adequate borrowing facilities to meet short-term demands. in terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation,  
the company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.
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28. FiNANCiAl RiSK MANAGEMENT continued
interest rate sensitivity analysis
for the group, based on the interest-bearing net assets and interest rates ruling at the reporting date, net interest earned would 
amount to r20,3 million (2011: r31,9 million). A 100 basis points change in the interest rate would result in an increase or 
decrease of r3,6 million (2011: r5,4 million). 

for the company, based on the interest-bearing net assets and interest rates ruling at the reporting date, net interest earned would 
amount to r18,9 million (2011: r26,9 million). A 100 basis points change in the interest rate would result in an increase or 
decrease of r3,1 million (2011: r4,4 million). 

Credit risk
 credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the group  
or company.

 potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receivables, loans and advances and short-term cash investments. 
long-term loans are secured by cession of shares and fishing rights and bonds over assets as appropriate. Advances are short term 
and usually recoverable within the fishing season to which they relate. The group and company deposit short-term cash surpluses 
only with major financial institutions of high-quality credit standing. At 30 September 2012, the directors did not consider there to 
be any significant concentration of credit risk which had not been adequately provided for. details are disclosed in note 18 of how 
credit risk relating to accounts receivable is managed.

Fair values
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values at year-end.

29. RElATED-PARTy DiSClOSuRES
 during the year the company received fees from some of its subsidiaries and joint ventures for the provision of various 
administration services.

 The company provides financing to subsidiary companies and joint ventures and invests surplus cash on their behalf. loan accounts 
between wholly owned group companies in South Africa are interest-free. other loan accounts bear interest at rates similar to rates 
levied by banks. details of loan balances with, and interests in, subsidiary and joint venture companies are disclosed on pages 42 
and 43. details of treasury shares held by share trusts are disclosed in note 19.

 The company owns preference shares issued by oceana Spv (pty) limited, a subsidiary of Brimstone investment corporation 
limited. further details of this investment are disclosed in note 13.
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29. RElATED-PARTy DiSClOSuRES continued
 details of the transactions between the group and the company with related parties follow.

 GROuP  COMPANy
2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

Transactions
Transactions with joint ventures 
Administration fees received 2 146 2 397 1 253 1 210
Net interest received 404 246 495 352

Transactions with subsidiaries
Administration fees received 116 544 75 023
dividends received 285 514 262 090
Net interest paid (5 148) (1 504)

Transactions with shareholders
dividends receivable from oceana Spv (pty) limited 10 967 11 506 10 967 11 506
Goods and services sold to Tiger Brands limited subsidiaries 5 886 5 444
Net amount owed by Tiger Brands limited subsidiaries 269

Compensation of key management personnel
 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities, directly 
or indirectly, including any director of that entity. 

Short-term employee benefits 47 557 25 362 29 661 14 053
post-employment benefits 3 045 2 834 1 863 1 623
Share-based payments – cash-settled compensation scheme 32 135 5 796 23 378 4 854
Share-based payments – Khula Trust 66 84 66 84
Non-executive directors’ emoluments 2 404 2 158 2 404 2 158
Total compensation of key management 85 207 36 234 57 372 22 772

interest of directors in contracts
 The directors of oceana make declarations of interest in terms of section 75 of the companies Act. These declarations indicate  
that certain directors hold positions of influence in other entities which are shareholders, suppliers, customers and/or competitors  
of the group. 

Post-retirement benefit plans
 The group is a member of various defined-contribution plans as well as a defined-benefit plan. further details are shown in note 26.



Oceana Group Limited Annual Financial Statements 2012 39

30. DiRECTORS’ AND PRESCRiBED OFFiCER’S REMuNERATiON
Executive directors’ remuneration

 COMPANy

2012 Salary Allowances

Retire-
ment
fund 

contri-
butions

incentive
bonuses1

Gain on
exercise of 

phantom 
share 

options
Total

emoluments
Name R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ABA conrad  1 265  144  302 1 874  1 397 4 982
fp Kuttel  3 349  174  512 4 414   8 449
rG Nicol  2 215  100  443 3 044  2 006 7 808
Total  6 829  418  1 257 9 332  3 403 21 239

2011

ABA conrad  1 136  140  274  279  1 445  3 274 
fp Kuttel  3 122  152  478  677      4 429 
rG Nicol  2 064  104  414  466  603  3 651 
Total  6 322  396  1 166  1 422  2 048  11 354 

Note: 
1  Performance bonuses are accounted for on an accrued basis, to match the amount payable to the applicable financial year.

Executive directors’ phantom share option details

2012 
Name

options
as at

30 Sept
2011

option 
price

(cents)

options
granted
during

the year

options
exercised

during
the year

exercise
price

(cents)

Options 
as at 

30 Sept 
2012

expiry
date

ABA conrad  13 333  1 691  13 333  4 235    10.11.2012
 30 000  1 926  15 000  4 470  15 000 07.02.2014
 92 000  2 265  30 667  4 470  61 333 05.02.2015
 38 000  2 959  38 000 11.02.2016
 33 000  3 752  33 000 10.02.2017

 4 477  30 000  30 000 17.02.2018
 206 333  30 000  59 000  177 333 

fp Kuttel  500 000  2 506  500 000 01.07.2015
 136 000  2 959  136 000 11.02.2016
 119 000  3 752  119 000 10.02.2017

 4 477  107 000  107 000 17.02.2018
 755 000  107 000   862 000 

rG Nicol  38 333  1 539  38 333  4 250 08.02.2012
 30 000  1 691  30 000  4 914 10.11.2012

 100 000  1 926  100 000 07.02.2014
 188 000  2 265  188 000 05.02.2015

 78 000  2 959  78 000 11.02.2016
 68 000  3 752  68 000 10.02.2017

 4 477  61 000  61 000 17.02.2018
 502 333  61 000  68 333  495 000 



40 Oceana Group Limited Annual Financial Statements 2012 

Notes to the aNNual fiNaNcial statemeNts coNtiNued
for the year ended 30 september 2012

30. DiRECTORS’ AND PRESCRiBED OFFiCER’S REMuNERATiON continued
Executive directors’ phantom share option details continued

 COMPANy

2011 
Name

options
 as at

30 Sept
2010

option 
price

(cents)

options
granted
during

the year

options
exercised

during
the year

exercise
price

(cents)

options 
as at 

30 Sept 
2011

expiry
date

ABA conrad  20 000  1 539  20 000  3 700 08.02.2012
 20 000  1 539  20 000  3 832 08.02.2012
 26 666  1 691  13 333  3 700  13 333 10.11.2012
 45 000  1 926  15 000  3 832  30 000 07.02.2014
 92 000  2 265  92 000 05.02.2015
 38 000  2 959  38 000 11.02.2016

 3 752  33 000  33 000 10.02.2017
 241 666  33 000  68 333  206 333 

fp Kuttel  500 000  2 506  500 000 01.07.2015
 136 000  2 959  136 000 11.02.2016

 3 752  119 000  119 000 10.02.2017
 636 000  119 000     755 000 

rG Nicol  38 333  1 539  38 333 08.02.2012
 60 000  1 691  30 000  3 700  30 000 10.11.2012

 100 000  1 926  100 000 07.02.2014
 188 000  2 265  188 000 05.02.2015
 78 000  2 959  78 000 11.02.2016

 3 752  68 000  68 000 10.02.2017
 464 333  68 000  30 000  502 333 

Executive directors’ share option details

2012

Balance as 
at 30 Sept

2011

Share 
options
deemed

to be
exercised

during
the year1

Gains on
options

exercised
Exercise

price

Deemed
exercise

dates
lapsed
options

Balance as 
at 30 Sept

2012
Name Number Number R’000 (cents) Number Number

rG Nicol 187 000 187 000

2011

Balance as 
at 30 Sept

2010

Balance as 
at 30 Sept

2011
Name Number Number

rG Nicol 187 000 187 000

Note:
1  Directors are deemed to have exercised share options on the date on which they have ownership of the shares and are entitled to dispose of them.
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30. DiRECTORS’ AND PRESCRiBED OFFiCER’S REMuNERATiON continued
Non-executive directors’ remuneration

 COMPANy
 2012  2011

Board
fees

Committee
fees Total

Board
fees

committee
fees Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

ZBm Bassa 160 106 266 75 30 105
mA Brey 455 52 507 425 49 474
pG de Beyer 160 149 309 150 128 278
m fleming1 37 19 56
pB matlare1 160 52 212 150 49 199
S pather 215 155 370 182 145 327
pm roux1 160 80 240 96 48 144
Nv Simamane 160 132 292 150 106 256
TJ Tapela 160 48 208 150 45 195
rA Williams 73 51 124
Total 1 630 774 2 404 1 488 670 2 158

Note:
1  Paid to Tiger Brands Limited

31. EvENTS AFTER ThE REPORTiNG DATE
No events occurred after the reporting date that may have an impact on the group’s reported financial position at 30 September 2012.

The company entered into an agreement regarding a call option for a potential specific repurchase of its shares, the details of which 
were announced on 7 November 2012.
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iNTereST iN priNcipAl SuBSidiArieS ANd JoiNT veNTureS
at 30 September 2012

issued  interest of holding company
capital effective holding  cost of shares indebtedness
2012 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Name of company Note
Nature of 
business R % % R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

Blue Atlantic Trading  
(pty) limited 1 fish trading  100 50 50  11 362  5 030 
Blue continent products  
(pty) limited

horse mackerel, 
hake  1 000 100 100  1 932  1 932  95 272 12 816

calamari fishing (pty) 
limited Squid  4 000 100 100  15 918 8 958
commercial cold Storage  
(pty) limited cold storage  100 100 100  11 490 8 932
commercial cold Storage 
Group limited

holding 
company  1 000 000 100 100  6 986  6 985 

commercial cold Storage 
(ports) (pty) limited cold storage  100 70 70
commercial cold Storage 
(Namibia) (pty) limited 
– Namibia cold storage  10 000 100 100  (18 234) 
compass Trawling  
(pty) limited hake  1 000 60,53 60,53
desert diamond fishing  
(pty) limited horse mackerel  120 90 90  (2 507) (853)
erongo marine 
enterprises (pty) limited 
– Namibia horse mackerel  100 100 100 (6 890)  (17 930) 
erongo Seafoods (pty) 
limited – Namibia horse mackerel  40 000 49 49
erongo Sea products 
(pty) limited – Namibia horse mackerel  100 48 48
etosha fisheries holding 
company (pty) limited 
– Namibia 1

canned fish, 
fishmeal/oil  9 085 44,9 44,9  10 988  10 988 

Glenryck foods limited 
– united Kingdom canned fish  6 080 000 100 100  12 713 22 648
lamberts Bay foods 
limited french fries  52 700 100 100  22  22  12 667 11 424
mfv romano paulo 
vessel company (pty) 
limited 1 rock lobster  3 000 35 35
oceana Brands limited canned fish, 

fishmeal/oil  600 000 100 100  1 706  1 706  277 881 187 635
oceana international 
limited – isle of man horse mackerel  23 100 100  23  23 
oceana lobster limited rock lobster  965 500 100 100  966  966  13 806 (7 943)
Stephan rock lobster 
packers limited rock lobster  200 000 51 51  25  25  (233)  (399) 

 35 361 45 295  410 532 207 670

only principal subsidiaries and joint ventures have been included in the above list. details of all subsidiaries and joint ventures are available upon 
request from the company secretary.

All subsidiaries and joint ventures are incorporated in South Africa unless otherwise indicated.

Note:
1 Joint venture.
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iNTereST iN JoiNT veNTureS
at 30 September 2012

2012 2011
EFFECTivE hOlDiNG % %

The amounts below are included in the group’s financial statements as a result of the proportionate 
consolidation of joint ventures. Significant joint ventures include:
Blue Atlantic Trading (pty) limited 50,00 50,00
realeka Jv 52,00 52,00
etosha fisheries holding company (pty) limited 44,90 44,90
mfv romano paulo vessel company (pty) limited 35,00 35,00

R’000 r’000

STATEMENT OF COMPREhENSivE iNCOME
revenue 175 006 165 536
expenses (156 288) (145 429)
operating profit before abnormal items 18 718 20 107
Net interest (1 414) (969)
profit before taxation 17 304 19 138
Taxation (228) 3 512
profit after taxation 17 532 15 626

STATEMENT OF FiNANCiAl POSiTiON
property, plant and equipment 13 744 12 250
investments 22 22
current assets 121 193 92 760
current liabilities
– interest-bearing (44 574) (658)
– interest-free (30 145) (32 735)
deferred taxation (128) (356)

STATEMENT OF CASh FlOWS
operating profit 18 718 20 107
Adjustments for non-cash items 972 2 400
Working capital changes (30 775) 23 200
cash flows from operations (11 085) 45 707
Net interest (1 414) (969)
Taxation paid (297) (2 527)
Net cash flows from operating activities (12 796) 42 211
cash flows from investing activities (2 467) (679)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (15 263) 41 532
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ShAreholder ANAlySiS
at 30 September 2012

ShAREhOlDER SPREAD
Number of

shareholders %
Number of

shares %

1 – 1 000 shares  786 51,5  423 986 0,4
1 001 – 10 000 shares  506 33,2  1 853 161 1,5
10 001 – 100 000 shares  168 11,0  6 667 100 5,6
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  55 3,6  16 039 089 13,4
1 000 001 shares and over  10 0,7  94 445 821 79,1

 1 525 100,0  119 429 157 100,0

DiSTRiBuTiON OF ShAREhOlDERS

Banks 24 1,6 2 709 036 2,3
Brokers 10 0,7 739 876 0,6
close corporations 25 1,6 87 219 0,1
empowerment 1 0,1 20 096 755 16,8
individuals 1 115 73,1 3 431 069 2,9
insurance companies 9 0,6 960 322 0,8
investment companies 13 0,8 587 163 0,5
medical aid schemes 1 0,1 79 545 0,1
mutual funds 69 4,5 13 666 224 11,4
Nominees and trusts 126 8,3 799 110 0,7
other corporate bodies 14 0,9 498 521 0,4
pension funds 74 4,8 11 321 045 9,5
private companies 36 2,4 364 394 0,3
public companies 5 0,3 44 878 645 37,5
Treasury shares held by share trusts 2 0,1  14 115 883 11,8
Treasury shares held by subsidiary 1 0,1  5 094 350 4,3

 1 525 100,0  119 429 157 100,0

ShAREhOlDER TyPE

Non-public shareholders 110 7,3  84 680 951 70,9

directors and employees 105 6,9  674 500 0,6
Treasury shares held by share trusts 2 0,1  14 115 883 11,8
Treasury shares held by subsidiary 1 0,1  5 094 350 4,3
empowerment 1 0,1  20 096 755 16,8
holdings greater than 10% 1 0,1  44 699 463 37,4

public shareholders  1 415 92,7  34 748 206 29,1
 1 525 100,0  119 429 157 100,0

ShAREhOlDERS hOlDiNG iN ExCESS OF 5%

Tiger Brands limited  44 699 463 37,4
Brimstone investment corporation limited  20 096 755 16,8
Khula Trust  14 099 383 11,8
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